The State of South Carolina

In the Supreme Court

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-001481

RECEIVED

FEB 13 2017

MAURICE LIONEL ABRAMS,

S.C. SUPREME COURT
Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Bradley M. Kirkland
ATTORNEY AT LAW
2007 Lincoln Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 386-1116
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:
Julie A. Coleman
S.C. ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803)734-3737

Attorney for Respondent

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR court erred in finding that the applicant's trial counsel, Charles Brooks, III, visited Mr. Abrams a sufficient number of times prior to trial to prepare the case for trial.
2. Did the PCR court err in determining that trial counsel's decision to not present an alibi defense was a strategic decision and the alibi witnesses were not credible
3. Did the PCR court err in finding that counsel did not fail to investigate or call witnesses to discredit the testimony of the alleged co-defendants in the case

STATEMENT

Indictment and Trial

The Applicant was indicted during the July 2010 term of the Sumter County Grand Jury for Murder Armed Robbery, Burglary 1st Degree, and Possession of a Firearm During Commission of a Violent Crime (2010-GS-43-0885). Applicant was represented by retained counsel. Applicant proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Howard P. King. Applicant was found guilty on all charges on June 8, 2011. Judge King sentenced the applicant to life imprisonment for Murder, life imprisonment for Burglary 1st Degree, thirty years for Armed Robbery, and 5 years imprisonment for Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime, with all sentences to run consecutively. App. 1-4.

Appeal

The Applicant appealed to the South Carolina Court of Appeals, and an order of dismissal was issued on March 15, 2012, after Applicant notified the Court of his desire to withdraw the appeal. The Remittitur was issued on April 24, 2012.

PCR Application and Evidentiary Hearing

On April 27, 2012, the Petitioner filed his application requesting post-conviction relief. In his original application for post-conviction relief, Applicant alleges he is being held in custody unlawfully based on the following allegations:

1. Ineffective assistance of Counsel
 - a. "Failure to call witnesses."
 - b. "Failure to object to evidence/Brady violations."
 - c. "Conflict of Interest/exist attorney represented victim in this case." App. 535.

Through PCR Counsel, Bradley Kirkland, Applicant amended his application to include the following grounds:

1. Applicant's trial counsel, Charles Brooks, III, failed to visit Mr. Abrams a sufficient number of times prior to trial to prepare the case for trial.
2. Counsel failed to move to suppress several items introduced at the trial of Mr. Abrams. Mr. Abrams specifically asked Mr. Brooks to make the motions and Mr. Brooks failed to do so.
3. Applicant's counsel failed to investigate and present an alibi defense on behalf of Mr. Abrams despite being informed of the defense by Mr. Abrams and his mother, Catherine McFadden.
4. Counsel failed to call witnesses that would have discredited the testimony of the co-defendants at Mr. Abrams' trial and failed to properly cross examine the witnesses called by the state at trial.
5. Counsel failed to object to the introduction of several pieces of physical evidence that had not been provided to the defense prior to trial.
6. Counsel failed to disclose to Applicant a conflict of interest in representing Applicant. App 546.

An evidentiary hearing was subsequently held at the Sumter County Courthouse before the The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., December 19, 2013, at the Sumter County Courthouse. The Applicant was present at the hearing and was represented by Bradley M. Kirkland. The Respondent was represented by Assistant Attorney General Mary Williams of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. App. 551.

Summary of Allegations Against Applicant at Trial

On May 19, 2009, Maurice Abrams, Tony Lowery, Frederick and others allegedly planned an armed robbery and burglary in which they would take money and/or drugs from Markeith Ford. Markeith Ford was killed during the incident. Theresa Ford, sister of Mr. Ford, claimed they were both watching a L.A. Lakers game when the assailants, their faces partially covered with something, entered the house and demanded money. One of the individuals had a gun. The assailants demand money from Mr. Ford and searched for the money. At one point one of the assailants allegedly yells to the person with the gun, "We got it Moe, let's go". At that point the assailant with the gun shoots and kills Markieth Ford. App. 89-92.

Maurice Abrams (Petitioner)

Alibi Testimony

Maurice Abrams, the Applicant, testified that on March 7, 2011, as evidenced by Exhibit 4 of the PCR hearing, had a jail visit with private investigator Benny Webb. App. 749. Mr. Webb had been retained by Charles Brooks, trial attorney for the Applicant, to investigate Mr. Abrams' cases.¹ At that meeting Mr. Abrams testified that he told Mr. Webb that he had an alibi for the "Markieth Ford" case. The Markieth Ford case is the subject of this PCR hearing. He told Mr. Webb that his alibi witnesses were his mother, Catherine McFadden; his uncle, Michael McFadden; and his brother, who did not testify at the PCR hearing. Mr. Abrams also testified that he told his attorney about his alibi on the day of his trial. He did not tell his attorney earlier because his attorney did not specifically discuss the Markieth Ford trial with Mr. Abrams prior to the actual trial. App. 609-611.

¹ Mr. Brooks represented the Applicant on two separate cases referred to as the "Markieth Ford" case and the "Dubose Siding" case. The Markieth Ford case is the subject of this PCR.

Mr. Abrams testified that on the day of the murder, May 19, 2009, he and his family were having a "memorial dinner" for his grandmother that had passed several years prior. At this time Mr. Abrams was living with his mother. He recalled waking up at around 10:00 am that morning and that his mother was cooking for the dinner later that day. He did not leave the house until later in the day when the Applicant and his mother, Catherine McFadden, went to the Gate gas station to purchase gas with her DSS voucher at about 4:00 pm. Ms. McFadden owned two cars and asked the Applicant to follow her to the gas station in one of the cars so she could put fuel in both. App. 613-615.

The Applicant followed his mother to the gas station and she filled up the car she was driving and then the Applicant pulled up to the pump to add fuel to the car he was driving. At that point a dispute occurred between Ms. McFadden and an employee at Gate gas station. The Applicant believed the dispute involved fueling two cars with a DSS voucher. Once the dispute was resolved the Applicant and his mother went to visit his grandmother. The Applicant fed his dogs that were at his grandmother's house and went home. His mother stayed with his grandmother for some time after the Applicant left. App. 615-617.

The Applicant arrived home at around 6 or 7 pm the same day. From that point forward the Applicant ate and socialized. He did not leave the apartment again until the next morning. He recalls that his uncle, his mother and his little brother were present. The Applicant slept on the couch and recalled being awakened at around 10:30 pm when his uncle left to go to Karaoke. He woke up because the alarm system in the apartment makes a noise whenever the front door was opened. However, the Applicant did not leave the apartment at that time. App. 617-624. Therefore, according to the Applicant's testimony, he could not have been present at the location of the murder because he was asleep at his mother's house.

Failure to Communicate with Client Testimony

The Applicant testified that he met with his attorney for the first time on during the month of February, 2010. At that meeting the Applicant said he talked briefly with trial counsel about his alibi in the Markeith Ford murder case (the subject of this PCR). App. 556, ll. 6-8; 558, ll. 16-19. The Applicant claimed that he did not have any discovery materials concerning the Markieth Ford² case at that time. App. 558, ll. 11-13. The next time the Applicant says he saw trial counsel of in August of 2010. At that time trial counsel only discussed the Dubose Siding case as it was going to trial that month. App. 560-562. After that meeting the Applicant went to trial on the Dubose Siding case. The case ended in a mistrial. App. 562, ll. 13-16.

The next meeting that the Applicant claims to have had with trial counsel was on June 6, 2011, the first day of the Markeith Ford murder trial which is the subject of this PCR. Between the Dubose Siding case and the Markeith Ford murder trial Applicant claimed that the only contact he had with trial counsel was copies of several letters asking the prosecutor for a bond hearing. App. 565-566.

The next contact that the Applicant claims to have had with his attorney was on the first day of the Markeith Forder murder trial. In support of his position the Applicant introduced a letter from trial counsel post marked June 3, 2011, advising him of his trial on June 6, 2011. App. 747. The Applicant claimed he did not receive the letter until June 7, 2011, the second day of the Markeith Ford trial. App 567-568. In further support of his claim that trial counsel failed to meet with him to discuss his cases in detail, the Applicant introduced the detention center log files for all visits made to the Applicant. App 749. There is no indication in the records that trial

² Mr. Brooks represented the Applicant on two separate cases referred to as the "Markieth Ford" case and the "Dubose Siding" case. The Markieth Ford case is the subject of this PCR.

counsel met with Mr. Abrams. However, the records did indicate that the investigator hired by trial counsel did meet with Mr. Abrams. App. 569-572.

The Applicant testified that trial counsel sent him the discovery materials but never met with him to review the materials. In support of his claim the Applicant introduced a certificate of mailing of the discovery materials dated May 16, 2011. App 761. This date was approximately 3 weeks prior to the start of the Markeith Ford trial.

Failure to Investigate and Call Exculpatory Witnesses

The Applicant introduced Plaintiff's 6 and 7 into evidence. App. 761-762. These were written statements made by Tony Lowery. In each of the statements it is alleged that Steve Witherspoon was with them just prior to the armed robbery and Murder. Furthermore Mr. Owens and Mr. Lowery testified at the Applicant's trial that Steve Witherspoon was with Mr. Abrams just prior to the robbery and murder. App 241-242, 315. Tony Lowery also testified that Steve Witherspoon met with the Applicant and saw the marijuana and money taken during the robbery. App 327-329. However, Steve Witherspoon was not called as a witness by trial counsel to discredit the testimony that he was with Mr. Abrams just prior to the armed robbery and murder. Maurice Abrams testified that he told his investigator, Benny Web, to find Mr. Witherspoon because he knew that he was not with Mr. Witherspoon the night of the crime. App 585-586. However trial counsel admitted that he knew Mr. Witherspoon was a potential witness but never attempted to contact him. App. 728-729.

Catherine McFadden (Mother of Applicant)

Alibi Testimony

Catherine McFadden corroborated the testimony given by the Applicant. Initially, Ms. McFadden testified that she, shortly after retaining Mr. Brooks, informed him of the alibi in the

Markieth Ford case. She also at some point spoke to the investigator, Benny Webb, concerning the alibi. App. 668-669.

Ms. McFadden said that her grandmother was born on May 17 and on each May 17 since her passing they would have a memorial dinner in her honor.³ However, the year of the murder, her birthday fell on a Sunday. Ms. McFadden's mother and brother are members of a church choir group that travelled to North Carolina that Sunday to perform. Consequently, most of the family was in North Carolina on May 17 of that year. For that reason they were unable to hold the memorial dinner on May 17. Ms. McFadden moved the memorial dinner to Tuesday. She was unable to have the dinner on Monday because she had to work that day. App. 674-675.

Ms. McFadden recalled on Tuesday, May 19, 2009, that she began cooking when she woke up and continued cooking until around 2:00 pm. At around 4:00 pm she and the Applicant went to the Gate gas station to put fuel in both her vehicles. There was an argument between the store clerk and Ms. McFadden because the clerk believed she was using her DSS voucher to put gas in a car that belonged to someone else. Ms. McFadden showed the clerk that both registrations were in Ms. McFadden's name. At that point the Applicant and Ms. McFadden went to Ms. McFadden's mother's house. Ms. McFadden remained at her mother's house for approximately 1.5 hours. At that point she returned home. App. 677-680.

When she arrived home a few people had eaten and were leaving. However, the Applicant, his brother and his uncle were still present. She corroborated the Applicant's testimony that the Applicant socialized, played video games and did not leave the apartment for more than 5 minutes at a time to smoke cigarettes on occasion. She also said that her front door

³ Plaintiff's exhibit 17 (App. 779), an obituary for Ms. McFadden's grandmother, was introduced into evidence. The exhibit indicated that the date of birth for Ms. McFadden's grandmother was May 17, 1919, and her death was June 8, 2007.

makes a beeping noise when someone opens it and she could see into the living room from her bedroom. She was certain that the Applicant did not leave that evening. App. 680-682.

Ms. McFadden testified that she had to go to work at 4:00 am the next morning (May 20) but did not go to bed until after 11:15 pm. She recalls that time specifically because she watches the first 15 minutes of the evening news every night at 11:00 pm. After she went to sleep she does recall the front door opening and her brother said he was going to Karaoke. She believes it was around 12:00 am. App. 680-684. Ms. McFadden was adamant that the Applicant did not leave the house that evening.

Michael McFadden (Uncle of Applicant)

Alibi Testimony

Michael McFadden, the brother of Catherine McFadden and uncle of the Applicant testified as to the alibi as well. Mr. McFadden corroborated the testimony of both the Applicant and Ms. McFadden. Mr. McFadden recalled going to North Carolina on Sunday for his church choir on May 17. He recalled that May 17 was the date his grandmother was born. He recalled that they were unable to hold the memorial dinner on Monday because Ms. McFadden had to work that day. He stated that he arrived at Ms. McFadden's apartment at around 4:00 pm and the Applicant and Ms. McFadden were leaving to go get gas. He recalled the names of the people that were at the gathering. He stated that the Applicant and Ms. McFadden got back to the apartment around 6:30 or 7:00 pm. At that point everyone still in attendance socialized and watched videos of his grandmother. App. 688-692.

He described the apartment and corroborated the fact that a person sitting in the bedroom could see into the living room. He corroborated that the Applicant did not leave the apartment for more than 5 minutes at a time to smoke a cigarette. He testified that he did not leave the

apartment until around 12:00 am and, at that time, the Applicant was asleep on the couch. App 692-694. Additionally, Mr. McFadden specifically testified that he attended the trial and was available as a witness. App. 696, ll. 14-16.

Charles Brooks (Trial Counsel)

Alibi Testimony

Trial attorney for the Applicant, Charles Brooks, testified that he hired an investigator to assist him with the Applicant's cases. Mr. Brooks testified that his investigator did discuss the alibi defense with the Applicant's family. App. 708-709; 169, ll. 14-25. He also admitted that he spoke to Ms. McFadden about the alibi defense. App. 722-723. However, Mr. Brooks did not find the alibi credible because he did not think close family members made good alibi witnesses. App 708-709; 722, ll. 11-20. Mr. Brooks did not offer any other specific reason as to why the alibi was not credible.

At times Mr. Brooks appeared to be somewhat confused as to which case the alibi might apply to since he represented the Applicant on several cases:

Q: Okay. And do you recall Ms. Catherine McFadden telling you about the alibi in this case?

A: She indicated to me -- remember now, he had three separate cases, all serious. So remember one of them was assault and battery with intent to kill. She indicated that on one of these, he may have been someplace with some family. But that's why I got Mr. Webb. (PCR Tr. p. 158).

[...]

Q: And you don't recall Maurice telling you [during trial] he was with his mom or his dad?

A: That would have been the time he could have said, I was with my mother. Even though, you know, there might have been some issue about whether or not they were alibi and that kind of stuff. (PCR Tr. p. 161).

[...]

Q: Okay. From what I understood, based on the conversations that you had with Benny, I believe you said his name is?

A: Benny Webb.

Q: Benny Webb, Mr. Webb. That you realized that there was a possibility of raising an alibi defense. Something was mentioned that raised the possibility of it?

A: Well, an alibi defense, but it was never as to what case. Okay.

Q: Okay. Okay.

A: Because remember now, he's got Dubose Siding Road, he's got this one, and he also has this other one. App. 719-720.

There is no indication in the record that Mr. Brooks tried to clear up any confusion as to which case the alibi would actually apply. He also did not testify as to what his understanding was of the alibi defense. Nevertheless, he repeatedly claimed that he did not feel the alibi was credible. App 708-709; 722-723; 183, ll. 8-12; 735, ll. 11-13.

Mr. Brooks claimed that he believed the state's case was very weak. Although there was some physical evidence in the case, Mr. Brooks testified that he was not concerned about it at all as it did not clearly tie the Applicant to the crime. His main concern was that two of the five participants in the robbery were going to testify against the Applicant and implicate him in the crime. App. 717-718. Mr. Brook's strategy to defend the case was to "hard-cross" the two cooperating witnesses and he did not consider raising an alibi defense. App. 723, ll. 11-14.

However, prior to the start of the trial, Mr. Brooks was informed that the victim's sister, Teresa Ford, intended to identify the Applicant at the trial as the shooter. The fact that she could identify the Applicant was never revealed in the discovery materials. App. 702-704. Mr. Brooks objected to her identifying the Applicant at the trial because he was given no notice of her ability to identify his client but his objection was overruled. This, according to Mr. Brooks, had a dramatic impact on his planned defense:

A: The first time I learned of Teresa Ford's ability to identify him was in court.

Q: Right?

A: And I raised that issue as you see that in the transcript.

Q: I saw it. You did.

A: And obviously --- so going in, you know, I had a different game plan.

Q: Right.

A: Obviously, that game plan had to change in light of Judge King's ruling ... App. 725.

However, Mr. Brooks was resolute that despite the fact that he needed to change his "game plan" to counter Ms. Ford's testimony he never considered a potential alibi defense despite being aware the defense existed:

Q: But at that point in time, don't you think it would have been prudent to start thinking, you know, maybe this alibi thing, maybe I need to start looking into this. Or maybe Steve Witherspoon or Terrance Lemon, maybe I need, you know, figure out if I need to call them. Because now the dynamics have changed. Did you ever -- did that cross your mind?

A: No. App. 728, ll. 14-21.

Instead, it appears that Mr. Brooks believed that the best course of action was for his own client to waive his constitutional right against self-incrimination and take the stand to defend himself:

A: As a matter of fact, during the trial Mr. Webb was there, I thought Maurice could have and should have taken the stand.

Q: Okay.

A: And I still think if he had taken the stand, then he probably would not have been convicted of murder. [. . .] App 709 line 25 - 710 line 1.

[. . .]

Q: You were put in a position where my understanding from your direct testimony -- I mean, on direct, was that you felt like to save the save the case at that point, and things had changed ...

A: That's correct.

Q: ... you needed Maurice to take the stand?

A: Correct.

Q: Because you didn't have anything that effectively combated what you felt like was that identification by...

A: Teresa Ford. App. 732, 1-11.

When Mr. Abram's exercised his right to not take the stand in his own defense, Mr. Brooks felt that there as simply no other defense available to him despite the fact he earlier admitted to having known about the alibi and had spoken to, at least, his investigator and the mother of the Applicant about the alibi.

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