STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Sumter County
R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

2012-CP-43-713
Appellate Case No. 2016-001481

MAURICE ABRAMS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JULIE A. COLEMAN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 102214

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 16 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

First, it is important to note that the PCR court found Trial Counsel's testimony to be credible and Petitioner's testimony to be not credible. App. 786. The PCR judge was in the best position to determine credibility and, as such, his findings must be given great deference. See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the post-conviction relief judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses); Hyman v. State, 397 S.C. 35, 45, 723 S.E.2d 375, 380 (2012) (noting the heightened emphasis reviewing court's place the upon post-conviction relief court's credibility findings), citing Solomon v. State, 313 S.C. 526, 443 S.E.2d 540 (1994) (appellate court deference to post-conviction relief court's credibility findings is so great that it required the Court to uphold post-conviction relief court's determination even where testimony at post-conviction relief hearing was unequivocally contradicted by the trial record).

During the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified he hired Trial Counsel to represent him in February of 2010, and he met with him for the first time that month at the county jail. App. 556. At that meeting, he said that he discussed a potential alibi defense for the case at hand¹. App. 558-9. Petitioner stated after the February meeting, he did not meet with Trial Counsel again to discuss that specific case until over a year later at his trial on June 6, 2011. App. 563. However, Petitioner stated he met with Trial Counsel multiple times to discuss all his cases, and he met with Trial Counsel's investigator on at least one occasion. App. 570.

¹ Respondent notes that, according to the testimony presented, Trial Counsel represented Petitioner for three separate cases and alleges that he discussed the other two cases with Trial Counsel a sufficient number of times, but he did not meet with him specifically about this case at hand.

Trial Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing he met with and spoke with Petitioner multiple times before the trial. Trial Counsel testified that he spoke with Petitioner's mother "probably every day or every other day," and everyone once in a while Petitioner would call from the jail, and he went to see him. App. 704. He explained there was a lot of communication involving Petitioner's case between him and Petitioner's mother because she came to his office all the time and called quite a bit. App. 704. He stated he occasionally visited Petitioner at the jail and thoroughly explained the situation with his case to him. App. 705.

The PCR court relied on this testimony in making its ruling, and it held Trial Counsel's testimony on the subject was credible. App. 787. The PCR court cited to Trial Counsel's testimony that he visited Petitioner at the jail and that there was "a lot of communication" with Petitioner's mother as she would call or visit Trial Counsel every day. App. 787. The PCR court noted Petitioner's mother, Catherine McFadden, confirmed in her testimony she was in constant contact with Trial Counsel, and Trial Counsel hired a private investigator to meet with Petitioner and conduct an investigation to Petitioner's witnesses and co-defendants. App. 787-788. The PCR court cited Trial Counsel's testimony that he discussed the various aspects of the case, the strength of the State's case, and potential trial strategy. App. 788. The PCR court then found that Trial Counsel was not deficient because he met with Petitioner and his family members on several occasions prior to trial. App. 788.

The PCR court further found Petitioner "failed to present any credible evidence or argument as to how Trial Counsel's alleged lack of preparation prejudiced him" or changed the outcome of his trial. App. 788. It explained in detail how Trial Counsel effectively cross-examined the State's witnesses and investigated but strategically chose not to call alibi witnesses at trial, so there was no resulting prejudice from any alleged failure to meet with Petitioner.

All of the relevant testimony from the PCR hearing is probative evidence that the PCR court relied on in making its decision to deny post-conviction relief. Furthermore, Petitioner's failure to present any credible evidence to meet his burden of proving that more communication would have changed the outcome of his trial is probative evidence supporting the PCR court's finding that there was no prejudice. Because the PCR court's decision in denying this allegation was supported by the probative evidence above, this Court should affirm its denial of the application and deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari, as certiorari is not warranted in this case.

II. Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Trial Counsel strategically chose not to call alibi witnesses at trial and that the potential alibi witnesses were not credible.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in determining that Trial Counsel strategically chose not to call alibi witnesses and that the alibi witnesses presented at the evidentiary hearing were not credible. The PCR court correctly relied on probative evidence in making its decision, and this Court should affirm its findings.

Relevant Law

"[C]riminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case." Walker v. State, 397 S.C. 226, 235, 723 S.E.2d 610, 615 (Ct. App. 2012). Failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to result. Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 385-86, 629 S.E.2d 353, 357 (2006) (citing Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998)). In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances,

applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments.” Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521-22 (2003).

When a PCR applicant alleges trial counsel failed to investigate or present an alibi witness, the PCR court must make two findings to determine if counsel’s deficient performance constitutes prejudice under Strickland. First, the court must find as a matter of law whether the witness’s testimony meets the legal definition of an alibi. Second, the court must assess the witness’s credibility. In making the first finding, the court must consider the entire record to determine what the testimony would have been if it had been presented at trial. The PCR court must consider the testimony as a whole, take it as true and credible, and view it in the light most favorable to the PCR applicant. Walker v. State, 397 S.C. 226, 238, 723 S.E.2d 610, 616 (Ct. App. 2012).

Strickland requires trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. No particular set of detailed rules for counsel’s conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Strickland at 688-689. “Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another.” Id. at 691. Therefore, judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential. Id. at 689. Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel’s performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d

529 (1992).

Discussion

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding Trial Counsel strategically chose not to present alibi witnesses at trial, and in finding the alibi witnesses presented at the evidentiary hearing were not credible. The PCR court relied on probative evidence in making its findings and properly ruled that Trial Counsel was not ineffective.

In its Order of Dismissal, the PCR court cited to Trial Counsel testimony, which it found credible, that alibi was never a possible defense in this case because “there was never a situation of [Petitioner] saying to [Trial Counsel], hey, man, I know for sure I was at such and such place. And A, B, C, and D, know I was there. That never came across in our conversation.” App. 790 (citing App. 709). The PCR court further noted that Trial Counsel hired an investigator to investigate potential alibi witnesses. App. 709. Trial Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing he and his investigator made a decision that the potential alibi witnesses were not very credible, at least partially because these witnesses were Petitioner’s family members. App. 708-709. The PCR court further relied on Trial Counsel’s testimony that Petitioner never denied being present at the scene of the crime. App. 791.

The PCR court properly relied on this testimony as probative evidence supporting its ruling that Trial Counsel strategically chose not to present these alibi witnesses at trial. In Edwards v. State, this Court held that “[a] witness’s credibility and demeanor is crucial to an attorney’s trial strategy, and an attorney cannot be said to be deficient if there is evidence to support his decision to not call a witness with serious credibility questions.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 458, 710 S.E.2d 60, 65 (2011). The evidence presented to the PCR court clearly showed that Trial Counsel used a valid strategy in choosing not to call those witnesses. Where

counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). Therefore, the PCR court's ruling was proper and supported by probative evidence.

Secondly, the PCR court's ruling that the alibi witnesses presented by Petitioner at the evidentiary hearing were not credible was properly based on their testimony, which is probative evidence. The PCR court found these witnesses were not credible based on "their demeanor and presentation during the PCR hearing," as well as the fact that both of them are Petitioner's close relatives. App. 792. The PCR court accordingly held neither witness's testimony would have changed the outcome of the trial. App. 792.

This Court has always given great deference to a PCR judge's findings where matters of credibility are involved, because the trial court is in the best position to directly observe the witnesses. Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010); Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993). "If we find 'any evidence,' we must affirm the ruling of the PCR judge." Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 501, 458 S.E.2d 538, 541 (1995) (citing Grier v. State, 299 S.C. 321, 384 S.E.2d 722 (1989)). "To reverse in this case would be to substitute our judgment of the facts for that of the PCR judge, which would contravene our scope of review in these cases." Grier at 323, 384 S.E.2d at 724. The PCR court's credibility findings were based on the witnesses' testimony as well as the fact that they are Petitioner's close family members. Therefore, this probative evidence supports the ruling, and it must be upheld.

Because the PCR court's decision in denying this allegation was supported by the probative evidence above, this Court should affirm its denial of the application and deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari, as certiorari is not warranted in this case.

III. Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to call witnesses to discredit Petitioner's codefendants where Trial Counsel impeached and discredited the codefendants' trial testimony through other means.

Petitioner argues Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to call witnesses to discredit Petitioner's co-defendants at trial. The PCR court relied on probative evidence in making its findings and properly ruled that Trial Counsel was not ineffective.

Relevant Law

Strickland requires that trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Strickland at 688-689. Recognize, however, that a strategic or tactical decision does not have to be articulated by counsel on the record; counsel doesn't to have to personally identify his or her thinking. It is enough that the record show a basis for strategy, not that counsel announce that strategy on the record. See Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290 (2010).

A decision to attack a witness's credibility through means other than presenting witness testimony can be a valid trial strategy. Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 351-52, 495 S.E.2d 768, 771 (1998). Where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992).

Discussion

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner presented testimony from witnesses Stephen Witherspoon and Mary Smith to contradict and discredit the written statements used at trial

which were created by Petitioner's co-defendants. Petitioner argues Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to present these witnesses to discredit the co-defendants' testimony.

The PCR court held otherwise, finding Trial Counsel's strategy was to discredit the co-defendant's testimony through other means. Trial Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing his strategy was to discredit the co-defendants' testimony:

Question: And that was the big issue. And somehow your goal was going to be to just discredit [the co-defendants] somehow in any way, shape, or form that you could discredit them. Because they seemed to be the linchpin of the case in your opinion?

Answer: That's correct.

App. 718. The PCR court found it was Trial Counsel's trial strategy to impeach and discredit the co-defendants through cross-examination rather than by presenting additional witnesses:

[T]his Court notes Trial Counsel's strategy was to impeach and discredit Applicant's co-defendants through other available means. It is apparent from the record that Trial Counsel was able to successfully discredit both of Applicant's co-defendants, Owens and Lowery. (Tr. p. 251—p. 276; p. 321—p.348). In light of Trial Counsel's thorough cross-examination, this Court finds Witherspoon's testimony would have had little impact on the trial itself.

App. 793. The PCR court further found the testimony from these witnesses would not have changed the outcome of the trial so there was no prejudice, noting Trial Counsel thoroughly cross-examined both co-defendants' and successfully discredited their testimony at trial. App. 792-793.

A brief review of the trial transcript reveals that Trial Counsel thoroughly impeached both Frederick Owens and Tony Lowery at trial. The use of both Witherspoon and Smith as impeachment witnesses during trial would have been cumulative at best. This Court further notes that both Witherspoon and Smith are cousins of Applicant.² (Tr. p. 99 lines 4-8; p. 195 lines 21-22). Regardless, neither Witherspoon nor Smith's testimony would have had any meaningful

² Trial Counsel opined that close family members do not make credible witnesses.

impact on Applicant's trial as Trial Counsel thoroughly and systematically impeached both Tony Lowery and Frederick Owens during his cross-examination.

App. 789. This finding was directly based upon cross-examination in the trial transcript, part of the record before the court, which is probative evidence. App. 270-295; App. 340-367. This evidence supported the PCR court's finding that neither witnesses' testimony would have changed the outcome of the trial, so Petitioner could show no prejudice. App. 793.

Because the PCR court's decision in denying this allegation was supported by the probative evidence above, this Court should affirm its denial of the application and deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari, as certiorari is not warranted in this case.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.